IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC 07-611

KAYLE BARRINGTON BATES, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TERRI L. BACKHUS Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0946427

SUZANNE MYERS KEFFER Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0150177

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 N.E. 3rd Ave., Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr.

INTRODUCTION

This case is before the Court for the fifth time. It has troubled this Court each time it has been reviewed. Mr. Bates, an African-American, was convicted of first-degree murder, kidnapping, robbery and attempted sexual battery of a Caucasian woman by an all-white jury in Bay County, Florida in 1983. Former Sheriff Lavelle Pitts, former police investigators Guy Tunnell and Frank McKeithen were involved the investigation and in obtaining statements from Mr. Bates.

A motion for change of venue due to excessive pre-trial publicity in the Panama City/Bay County area was denied (R. 164-67). Mr. Bates's motion to suppress statements was denied, even though he alleged that his statements were coerced by police. Medical Examiner, Dr. Joseph Sapala, complained about the inadequate facilities and funding for his office during the time he conducted the forensic examination in the Bates case. He was quoted in the Panama City News-Herald as saying "This is like a living soap opera. Who's going to get Panama-ed next?" (PC-R2 533).

Judge W. Fred Turner presided over Mr. Bates's trial and allowed a minister from the victim's church to pray over the jury. The victim's white minister from the First Baptist Church prayed to God that the all-white jury would appreciate the seriousness of the situation with which they were confronted, and asked for

"wisdom and guidance." The minister also prayed for Judge Turner to have "special wisdom." (R. 1211). Mr. Bates was convicted and sentenced to death by a jury vote of 11 to 1.

This Court reversed on appeal and remanded for a resentencing because the trial court impermissibly found two inapplicable aggravating factors. <u>Bates v.</u> <u>State</u>, 465 So. 2d 490 (Fla. 1985). On remand, Judge Turner was asked for a continuance by the defense to prepare for the resentencing and he complained about the pressure he personally felt in the racially charged community:

You see, there is something that you [the defense attorneys] don't feel that I have to feel and that is **the** pressure of the public to get these things over with. There must be an end to this litigation. We are the most visible people on earth. Even the Supreme Court Justices can walk with impunity through the streets of Panama City and nobody would say a word to them; but I am Fred Turner and they know I am a Circuit Judge, and of course, that goes with the territory that I am criticized; but we are the ones that get all of the flack from the local citizens about when will there be an end to these appeals and murder cases. Would you be surprised if I told you that I don't visit first class restaurants in this town; I don't go to civic club meetings unless I am specifically invited as a special guest. I resigned from all of the civic clubs because they grab a hold of you like a dog, a hungry dog on a bone and we're the ones that get the criticism about what is happening to the slow progress of the courts up here and it's a constant thing. As I said, Justice Erlich [*sic*] or any of the Justices can walk through Panama City with absolute impunity but me, Judge Bower, or Judge Sirmon can't do that. There's so many things that you can't imagine that we get into and

after all they are the public. They are paying the bills for these prosecutions...

* * *

I don't have any efforts to be frustrated. I am telling you that the public is getting pretty heated out there about-particularly in death cases and they tell me about it in no uncertain terms. They don't use diplomatic language; they come right out. I'm just saying that's something you're isolated from; you don't hear that and see that.

(R. S. 171-181)(emphasis added).

Despite the fact that more and different mitigation witnesses were called, Judge Turner re-sentenced Mr. Bates to death reading the same sentencing order he had previously read at the first trial but without the impermissible aggravators.

On appeal, Mr. Bates argued that Judge Turner had not considered the new mitigation evidence presented at the resentencing. By a bare majority, this Court upheld the death sentence with Justice McDonald dissenting that he could not tell if the trial judge properly weighed the new evidence or whether he ignored it. <u>Bates v. State</u>, 506 So. 2d 1033 (Fla. 1987)(McDonald, Overton and Barkett dissenting).

It was not known until the post-conviction proceedings in 1990, that there were other problems with Judge Turner. Judge Turner's sentencing order was not his, but had been written by the prosecution. Judge Turner testified that the state attorneys were the "right arm of the court" and that it was customary for assistant state attorneys in his division to furnish secretarial and clerical help. It was normal practice for assistant state attorneys in his division to draft sentencing orders in capital cases and the judge failed to see that his *ex parte* relationship with the prosecutors was a problem (PC-R. 271-272).

The post-conviction judge granted a new sentencing proceeding. <u>Bates v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 604 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1992)(court abdicated sentencing fact-finding to assistant state attorney).

Even though much time had passed since the original trial, the racial undercurrents of this case continued to overshadow due process. At the 1995 resentencing before a new judge, Mr. Bates was confronted with the same discriminatory jury selection process that infected the original trial. By 1995, Mr. Bates had served over half of his minimum-mandatory sentence. Mr. Bates feared that the jury would sentence him to death –not because he was deserving of death—but because the jury believed they had no reasonable alternative. Mr. Bates explicitly waived any *ex post facto* rights he may have had and elected to be subject to the new statutory provision of life without the possibility of parole. His request was denied.

On January 30, 1995, the resentencing trial went forward, but on fourth day of trial, a juror disclosed to several other jurors that his ex-wife had been raped and that she never fully recovered from the trauma. He admitted that he had not

disclosed this information during voir dire. Several jurors admitted hearing this information but felt there was no need to inform the court. A mistrial was declared.

On May 15-25, 1995, another attempt at a resentencing occurred. This time, the trial was scheduled to begin on the same day one of trial counsel's other clients was to be executed in Georgia. The trial court refused to grant a continuance. Mr. Bates was forced to file a writ of prohibition with this Court. The writ was granted. Trial counsel was given a 24-hour continuance.

Thus, it was agreed upon in a telephone conference between the trial judge, Mr. Bates's lead counsel, and the prosecution that jury selection was to be delayed for 24 hours until lead counsel could arrive in Panama City. The agreement was that the jury venire would be sent home and told to return the next day unless there were other trials, besides Mr. Bates, that needed to be selected from the pool (R. IV 660-2). Mr. Bates's trial, however, was the only trial that was to go forward that day.

Contrary to the agreement, without the presence of lead counsel or Mr. Bates, the prosecutor excused some jurors from the panel for hardship reasons. Lead counsel proffered that the excusals were granted in a discriminatory manner which resulted in African-American jurors being improperly excused from the panel of jurors to be used to select Mr. Bates's jury (R. IV 661).

Thus, twelve years after Mr. Bates's original trial, the African-American

population was still grossly under-represented in the jury pool. Those few who were in the pool were stricken by prosecutors. As a result, only two African-American jurors served on Mr. Bates's jury at his 1995 resentencing. Of the 116 people called for jury duty, only 6 were African Americans. Prosecutors excused some of those jurors without giving Mr. Bates a chance to respond.

When lead counsel arrived the next day, he objected to the jurors having been excused. His objection was overruled and the resentencing began.

After all the evidence had been heard and submitted to the jury, Mr. Bates's worst fears were realized. After three hours of deliberation, the jurors sent a question to the judge asking if they could recommend life without the possibility of parole. When they were told no, the jury returned a verdict of death.

In 2006 during post-conviction, Mr. Bates filed a motion for DNA testing under the new Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853 to definitively identify the perpetrator of the crime. The trial court denied the motion.

In an effort to prove his ineffective assistance of counsel claim, Mr. Bates moved to reconstruct the record of the telephone conference in which trial counsel was told that no jury selection would begin until he was present. The trial court denied that request.

Mr. Bates moved to disqualify the judge and the state attorney's office in Bay County based on the fact that they would be witnesses at the evidentiary

hearing and in reconstructing the record. Those motions also were denied.

It was not until the post-conviction proceedings on the instant appeal, that Mr. Bates learned through public records disclosures that Dr. Harry McClaren, the state's expert, had been contributing to the campaigns of the state attorney who prosecuted Mr. Bates. This <u>Brady</u> information was not disclosed to the defense.

Mr. Bates also learned that the victim's family members and friends also had contributed heavily to the prosecutor's campaign during the time of Mr. Bates's resentencing. They gave statements to probation officials on Mr. Bates's presentencing investigation report even though they are not normally considered. They attempted to influence the jury panel by their presence during voir dire.

Mr. Bates also learned of police and prosecutorial misconduct and investigations of prosecutor Jim Appleman, and ex-Sheriff Lavelle Pitts. Mr. Bates pled each of these claims in his post-conviction motion and alleged that the files and records did not conclusively show that he was not entitled to relief. Yet, Mr. Bates was granted an evidentiary hearing on only a fraction of the ineffective assistance of counsel claim. By parsing Mr. Bates's post-conviction motion paragraph by paragraph, his claims were virtually eliminated from any meaningful consideration by the trial court.

Though Mr. Bates pled sufficient evidence of systematic racial discrimination in the Bay County jury selection process under <u>Miller-El v.</u>

Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322 (2003), his claim was summarily denied.

Mr. Bates has repeatedly argued to this Court that he has been "Panama-ed" either through racial and religious bias or by ignoring the rule of law. This Court has been troubled by the failure of the trial court to ensure that a fair and impartial fact finding occurred in this racially-sensitive case. Mr. Bates is entitled to a new trial and/or a complete evidentiary hearing before a fair and impartial tribunal outside Bay County, Florida.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court for the Fourteenth Judic ial Circuit, in and for Bay County, Florida, entered the judgments of conviction and sentence of death at issue in this case.

On July 6, 1982, Mr. Bates was charged by indictment with first-degree murder, kidnapping, sexual battery and armed robbery. On January 20, 1983, the jury returned a verdict finding Mr. Bates guilty of first-degree murder, kidnapping, attempted sexual battery and armed robbery.

On January 21, 1983, the jury voted in favor of death. On March 11, 1983, the court followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mr. Bates to death.

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the conviction, but vacated the death sentence and remanded to the circuit court for reconsideration. <u>Bates v. State</u>, 465 So. 2d 490 (Fla. 1985).

Following remand for reconsideration of the sentence for first-degree murder, the trial court reimposed the death sentence. This Court affirmed. <u>Bates v.</u> <u>State</u>, 506 So. 2d 1033 (Fla. 1987). Mr. Bates sought a writ of certiorari from the United States Supreme Court, which was denied. <u>Bates v. Florida</u>, 108 S. Ct. 213 (1987).

On September 7, 1989, a death warrant was signed on Mr. Bates. On October 6, 1989, Mr. Bates timely filed a motion for postconviction relief. On November 3, 1989, Mr. Bates also filed a Writ of Habeas Corpus. The trial court granted a new sentencing based on Mr. Bates's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase. This Court affirmed the granting of a new sentencing proceeding and remanded to the circuit court, but denied Mr. Bates's petition for writ of habeas corpus. <u>Bates v. Dugger</u>, 604 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1992).

Initially, the resentencing was held on January 30 and 31, 1995 and February 1 and 2, 1995, but ended in a mistrial. On May 15-25, 1995, another resentencing was held. On May 25, 1995, the jury returned a recommendation for death. On July 25, 1995, the trial court followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Mr. Bates to death. This Court affirmed. <u>Bates v. State</u>, 750 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 1999). Mr. Bates timely petitioned the United States Supreme Court for certiorari, and was denied on October 1, 2000.

After certiorari was denied, Mr. Bates was originally represented by Capital

Collateral Counsel for the Northern Region (CCRC-N). However, on March 28, 2001, that office certified a conflict of interest and requested conflict-free counsel. On March 29, 2001, Judge Sirmons signed an order released CCRC-N and appointed Capital Collateral Regional Counsel-South (CCRC-S) to represent Mr. Bates. Undersigned counsel filed an entry of appearance on July 12, 2001.

On September 10, 2001, Mr. Bates filed his initial motion for postconviction relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851.

On October 30, 2001, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim P. 3.852, counsel for Mr. Bates timely filed numerous Demands for Public Records from various state agencies involved in this case.

Mr. Bates filed an Amended Motion to Vacate on September 24, 2004. After a <u>Huff</u> hearing on March 4, 2005, Mr. Bates was denied an evidentiary hearing on all but a fraction of one ineffective assistance of counsel claim presented in his Rule 3.851 post-conviction motion (PC-R2. 688-97). An evidentiary hearing was held on October 16-17, 2006.

On February 28, 2007, the circuit court denied relief (PC-R2. 889-900). This appeal timely follows.

THE FACTS - Harold Richmond was appointed by the trial court to represent Mr. Bates as a special public defender at his resentencing (PC-R2. 17). On January 25, 1994, his motion for an investigator was filed and granted. He

hired ex-FBI agent, Don Baldwin, to investigate the case (PC-R2 19). He instructed Mr. Baldwin to find mitigation (PC-R2. 20). In October, 1994, Mr. Richmond requested additional funds for Mr. Baldwin's investigation (PC-R2. 20). Because Mr. Bates had a good relationship with his former post-conviction counsel, Tom Dunn, who had represented Mr. Bates in 1989, Mr. Richmond contacted him about assisting with the case.

At this time, Mr. Dunn was working in a not-for-profit law firm in Georgia which provided representation to everyone on Georgia's death row (PC-R2. 85). Mr. Dunn "reluctantly" agreed to assist with the case pro bono (PC-R2. 85). He requested permission from the Georgia Board of Directors to assist and was allowed to take vacation time to represent Mr. Bates (PC-R2. 85).

The first resentencing occurred in February, 1995. Mr. Richmond testified that he had "some" participation in that resentencing, but was not the lead attorney (PC-R2. 18). During the February 1995 resentencing, Drs. James Larson and Elizabeth McMahon testified that Mr. Bates would become "unwrapped" in stressful situations (R. 565), and that under stress, his emotional controls broke down (R. 620). They said he reacted impulsively without evaluating alternatives or consequences (R. 622).

Dr. Larson believed Mr. Bates suffered from organic brain damage and had conducted neuropsychological testing. He was not, however, an expert in that area.

Dr. Larson had to bring in an associate to interpret data on Mr. Bates's organic brain damage. He testified nonetheless that Mr. Bates suffered from organic brain damage and that those deficits made him prone to overreact in stressful situations (PC-R2. 93). During cross examination, the State was able to show that neither Dr. Larson nor Dr. McMahon knew of **any** other incidents before this crime where Mr. Bates lost control in a stressful situation.

While the State's expert, Dr. McLaren was testifying, a mistrial was declared (PC-R2. 93). A new sentencing proceeding was scheduled for May, 1995.

After the mistrial, Mr. Dunn testified that he was not "totally happy" with what had happened at the February resentencing with regard to his co-counsel Richmond (PC-R2. 82). Mr. Richmond had conducted a deposition of the State's pathologist and failed to learn of new information that was then presented in his testimony at trial (PC-R2. 82-83). Mr. Dunn was surprised by the new information at trial and unhappy it had not been discovered by Mr. Richmond at the deposition. As a result, Mr. Dunn took a more active role in the May, 1995 resentencing.

Mr. Dunn again was required to ask for vacation from the Board of Directors in Georgia to participate in Mr. Bates's case (PC-R2. 85). It put an "enormous amount of pressure on [him] and [his] office." (PC-R2. 86).

Mr. Richmond said he "basically had no participation" in the May 1995 resentencing (PC-R2. 18). Even though defense counsel "discussed things," Mr.

Richmond eventually asked to withdraw as co-counsel because it "seemed like an unnecessary expense for the county" to have him on the case (PC-R2. 21). He had never talked to Drs. Larson or McMahon. Mr. Dunn had dealt with the case longer and his office did "all of the investigation." (PC-R2. 28-29).

Three weeks before the May 1995 resentencing, a warrant was signed on one of Mr. Dunn's Georgia clients. Mr. Dunn was "pretty overwhelmed and it only got worse." (PC-R2. 85). He did no new investigation into Mr. Bates's case other than what had been done when he represented Mr. Bates in his 1989 post-conviction proceedings (PC-R2. 91). He did not have time to do any further investigation. The investigator, Mr. Baldwin, had only done fact investigation about the crime and had dealt with Mr. Richmond, not Mr. Dunn for direction (PC-R2. 92).

Five days before Mr. Bates's resentencing on May 10, 1995, Mr. Dunn requested funds to retain Dr. Barry Crown, a forensic neuropsychologist, to testify about organic brain deficits (PC-R2. 94). He asked Dr. Crown to review the neuropsychological testing done by Dr. Larson and do additional testing in terms of organic brain damage (PC-R2. 95). Mr. Dunn, however, forgot to list Dr. Crown on a supplemental witness list (PC-R2. 96). Mr. Dunn was "just overwhelmed" (PC-R2. 96) as he tried to litigate the death warrant in Georgia and prepare for Mr. Bates's resentencing at the same time.

On May 12, 1995, Mr. Dunn requested a continuance in a telephone hearing

when it was clear that the trial court was going forward with voir dire on May 15, 1995, the same date Mr. Dunn's Georgia client was to be executed.¹ The trial court denied the continuance, and Mr. Dunn filed a writ of prohibition with the Florida Supreme Court. This Court granted a 24 hour continuance so that Mr. Dunn could be present when voir dire began.

Despite this agreement, on May 15, 1995 some veniremen for Mr. Bates's panel were excused by the State and Judge Glenn L. Hess in Mr. Dunn's absence. Co-counsel Richmond was present but did not object.

Mr. Dunn described his situation at the beginning of the May, 1995 resentencing.

I had another full time job, I had a client who, in fact was executed the day the trial was supposed to start. In fact, I litigated that case up into the early morning hours, got in the car and drove down here to start the trial. And my client was actually executed while I was driving down here.

(PC-R2. 101).

On May 16, 1995, the first day Mr. Dunn was present, he learned of what

had happened the previous day in his absence and immediately objected.

In opening statements to the jury, Mr. Dunn told the jury that the defense

¹ Mr. Dunn failed to ensure that a court reporter was present for the continuance motion hearing or the discussion when voir dire was to begin in Mr. Bates's case. Mr. Bates renewed his request to reconstruct the record of that hearing but the request was denied (PC-R2. 4-5).

would present evidence that Mr. Bates suffered from organic brain deficits through Dr. Barry Crown, a forensic neuropsychologist (R2. 99). The State objected to Dr. Crown and claimed it had no notice since he was not listed on a supplemental witness list. As a result, Dr. Crown, who was already present in the courthouse, was deposed during the State's case (PC-R2. 96-97). On the following Monday, Assistant State Attorney Steve Meadows requested that Mr. Bates undergo an MRI test at a local hospital (PC-R2. 97).

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