### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KAYLE BARRINGTON BATES,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-611

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
PL-01, THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583
(850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

To present a legally sufficient claim that the prosecutor in his case sought the death penalty because he was African-American, Bates had to allege some facts to support a finding by the trial court that the decisionmakers in <a href="https://doi.org/10.1001/journal.org">his</a> case acted with discriminatory purpose. Foster v. State, 614 So. 2d 455, 463

(Fla. 1992) (quoting McCleskey v. Kemp, 481 U.S. 279, 292, 95 L. Ed. 2d 262, 107 S. Ct. 1756 (1987)). Moreover, the burden on the defendant is high. The defendant must show by "exceptionally clear proof" that racial discrimination played a role in the prosecutor's decision to seek the death penalty. Robinson v. State, 865 So. 2d 1259, 1264 (Fla. 2004).

Bates points to no evidence to support a notion the prosecutor sought the death penalty in this case because he was African-American. His conclusory statement that the "decision to seek the death penalty in Mr. Bates' case and the sentence to death was a direct result of the inherent discrimination in Florida's death penalty statute," is insufficient to require an evidentiary hearing. (IB 78). Doorbal v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S 107 (Fla. Feb. 14, 2008) (noting that conclusory, nonspecific allegations, devoid of specific facts and arguments, are insufficient to obtain an evidentiary hearing). This Court should affirm the collateral court's order summarily denying his claim.

#### ISSUE IV

# WHETHER OTHER ERRORS DEPRIVED BATES OF A FAIR SENTENCING PROCEEDING

In his fourth issue, Bates raises numerous claims of constitutional error. These claims include a challenge to the Florida Bar rule governing juror interviews, a "burden

shifting" claim, a claim challenging the HAC aggravator, an allegation that Bates is "innocent of the death penalty", a claim that the penalty phase instructions were vague and overbroad, an allegation that execution by lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, a claim that Florida's capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional, a claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion for a change of venue and a cumulative error claim. This Court should reject each of Bates' sub-claims.

#### A. Juror interviews

In this claim, Bates alleges that Rule 4-3.5(d) (4), Rules Regulating the Florida Bar is unconstitutional. Bates raised this claim below. The collateral court summarily denied the claim. The court found the claim to be procedurally barred. The collateral court also found the claim to be without merit. (PCR Vol. IV 692).

This Court should affirm the collateral court's order for two reasons. First, the claim is procedurally barred. A claim attacking the constitutionality of the Florida Bar Rule of Professional Conduct governing interviews of jurors can and should be raised on direct appeal. Because Bates failed to do so, this claim is procedurally barred. Suggs v. State, 923 So. 2d 419, 440 (Fla. 2005) (finding that post-conviction court was correct to find juror interview claim procedurally barred

because not raised on direct appeal); Rose v. State, 774 So. 2d 629, 637 n.7 (Fla. 2000) (holding that a post-conviction claim attacking the constitutionality of the Florida Bar Rule of Professional Conduct governing interviews of jurors is procedurally barred because Rose could have raised this issue on direct appeal).

This claim also fails on the merits. Bates' argument is premised on the notion that Rule 4-3.5(d) (4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar prevents collateral counsel from interviewing jurors. This is not the case.

In reality, the rule prohibits a lawyer from initiating communication with any juror regarding a trial with which the lawyer is connected, except to determine whether the verdict may be subject to legal challenge. The rule also provides that the lawyer "may not interview the jurors for this purpose unless the lawyer has reason to believe that grounds for such challenge may exist." R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.5(d)(4). The rule's foundation rests on strong public policy against allowing litigants to harass jurors or to upset a verdict by attempting to ascertain some improper motive underlying it. Marshall v. State, 854 So. 2d 1235 (Fla. 2003). 18

Rule 3.575, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure became effective in January 2005. This rule requires the party to file a motion to interview with the court and to set forth the names of the jurors to be interviewed and the reasons the party

In order to preclude "fishing expeditions", this Court has established a high threshold over which a defendant must cross. First, the moving party must bring forth, under oath, specific allegations, that if true, would require the trial court to order a new trial. Johnson v. State, 804 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 2001); Baptist Hospital of Miami v. Maler, 579 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1991)(ruling that in light of strong public policy against allowing litigants either to harass jurors or to upset a verdict by attempting to ascertain some improper motive underlying it, an inquiry is never permissible unless the moving party has made sworn factual allegations that, if true, would require a trial court to order a new trial).

Additionally, inquiry may be permitted only in the face of allegations which involve an overt prejudicial act or external influence (e.g., cases in which a juror related personal knowledge of non-record facts to other jurors, an assertion a juror received information outside the courtroom, a juror is improperly approached by a party, the jury votes by lot or game of chance, where jurors allegedly read newspapers contrary to

believes the verdict may be subject to legal challenge. If the judge makes a finding that the verdict may be subject to challenge, he or she enters an order permitting the interview, which is conducted in the presence of the court and the parties. If the court does not find a reason to challenge the verdict, the court denies permission to interview. The procedure outlined in rule 3.575 is consistent with rule 4-3.5(d)(4). Israel v. State, 2008 Fla. LEXIS 441 (Fla. Mar. 20, 2008).

the court's orders, or where jurors directed racial slurs against the defendant). Marshall v. State, 854 So. 2d 1235, 1241-1242 (Fla. 2003); Devoney v. State, 717 So. 2d 501 (Fla. 1998).

On the other hand, matters which inhere in the verdict or seek to invade the jury's deliberative process may not be the subject of juror interviews. For instance, inquiry into whether jurors understood the trial court's instructions, whether a juror did not understand a particular instruction, whether a juror attempted to discuss guilt prematurely, jurors' consideration of a defendant's failure to testify, or discussion of matters the trial judge instructed the jury to disregard are not permitted as these are matters which inheres in the verdict or relates to deliberation. See also Section 90.607(2) (b), Florida Rules of Evidence (noting that a juror is not competent to testify as to any matter which essentially inheres in the verdict).

Bates proffers no basis to believe that grounds for a legal challenge to his 1995 sentence to death will be illuminated by an interview of his jurors. Rather than pointing to specific evidence of juror misconduct or prejudicial outside influence, Bates claims only that "misconduct may have occurred that Mr. Bates can only discover by juror interviews." (IB 78). While Bates alleges generally that "evidence exists that the community

pressured judges and 'most likely jurors' to convict and sentence Mr. Bates to death", Bates does not allege what this evidence is. (IB 79).

At its core, Bates' complaint is that the rule impermissibly forbids him from conducting a fishing expedition in hopes of landing a keeper. Because Bates has not even made a threshold showing of an entitlement to interview his jurors, the collateral court properly denied this claim.

## B. Burden Shifting Claim

In this sub-claim, Bates raises three distinct issues. Bates alleges that: (1) comments by the prosecutor and instructions provided by the trial judge impermissibly diluted the jury's sense of responsibility in sentencing contrary to the dictates of <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320 (1985); (2) the standard jury instructions placed the burden on Bates to prove evidence in mitigation outweighed the evidence in aggravation; and (3) the State is required, pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 122 S.Ct. 2428 (2002), to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that sufficient aggravating circumstances exist to justify imposing the death penalty and that these aggravating factors outweigh mitigating factors.

Bates raised each of these claims in Claim Seven of his amended motion for post-conviction relief. (PCR Vol. IV, 583-

586). The collateral court denied these claims. (PCR Vol. IV 692-693.

## (1) Caldwell claim

This claim is procedurally barred. A claim the jury instructions impermissibly diminishes the jury's sense responsibility in sentencing can, and should be, raised on direct appeal. Hodges v. State, 885 So. 2d 338, 355 (Fla. Oct. 14, 2004) (ruling that Hodges' claim that comments by the prosecutor and trial court diminished the jury's sense responsibility for the sentencing process was not cognizable on collateral review because Hodges could have, but did not, raise the argument on appeal); Allen v. State, 854 So. 2d 1255, 1258 n.4 (Fla. 2003) (noting that challenges to comments on the ground that they dilute the jury's sense of responsibility in sentencing should be raised on direct appeal). Moreover, Bates cannot revive these barred claims by couching it loosely in terms of an ineffectiveness of counsel claim. Allen v. State, 854 So. 2d 1255, 1258 n.4 (Fla. 2003). See also Woods v. State, 531 So. 2d 79, 82 (Fla. 1988) (ruling that raising a procedurally barred claim in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel will not revive it).

This claim is also without merit. This Court has repeatedly rejected claims that Florida's standard jury instructions violate the dictates of <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>.

Mansfield v. State, 911 So. 2d 1160, 1180 (Fla. 2005); Sochor v. State, 619 So. 2d 285, 291 (Fla. 1993); Turner v. Dugger, 614 So. 2d 1075, 1079 (Fla. 1992). "To establish a Caldwell violation, a defendant necessarily must show that the remarks to the jury improperly described the role assigned to the jury by local law." Dugger v. Adams, 489 U.S. 401, 407 (1989). See also Romano v. Oklahoma, 512 U.S. 1 (1994) (same). This Court has long recognized the jury's penalty phase decision is advisory and the judge does indeed make the final sentencing decision. Combs v. State, 525 So. 2d 853, 855-58 (Fla. 1988).

In this case, the trial court instructed the jury to recommend a sentence and the final decision on the penalty would be made by the trial court. The court informed the jury that the court was required to give its recommendation great weight and that only in rare circumstances could he impose a sentence other than the one the jury recommended. (RS Vol. XV 823). As these instructions properly characterized the jury's role under Florida's capital sentencing procedures, there can be no Caldwell violation.

# (2) Burden Shifting

This Court may deny this claim for two reasons. First, the claim is procedurally barred. Bates could have, but did not, raise this claim on direct appeal. Because Bates did not raise this claim on direct appeal, the claim is barred in post-

conviction proceedings. <u>Turner v. Dugger</u>, 614 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 1992) (ruling that Turner's claim, that Florida's capital-sentencing scheme unconstitutionally shifted the burden to him to prove that life is the appropriate sentence, was procedurally barred because it should have been raised on direct appeal).

This Court may also deny this claim on the merits. Court has repeatedly rejected claims that standard penalty phase instructions improperly shift the burden to the defendant to prove either that death is inappropriate or that the mitigating factors outweigh aggravating factors. See Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2004)(noting that the Florida Supreme Court has repeatedly rejected claims the standard jury instructions impermissibly shifts the burden to the defense to prove that death is not an appropriate sentence); Sweet v. Moore, 822 So. 2d 1269 (Fla. 2003)(standard jury instruction on weighing mitigation and aggravation given by trial court in capital murder prosecution did not impermissibly shift burden to defense to prove that a life sentence was appropriate by suggesting that mitigators had to outweigh aggravators).

## (3) Ring Claim

This Court may deny this claim for two reasons. First, the claim is procedurally barred. The United States Supreme Court in Schriro v. Summerlin, 542 U.S. 348, 124 S. Ct. 2519, 159 L. Ed. 2d 442 (2004), held that the decision in Ring is not

retroactive. A majority of this Court has also concluded that <a href="Ring">Ring</a> does not apply retroactively in Florida to cases that are final, under the test of <a href="Witt v. State">Witt v. State</a>, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980). <a href="Johnson v. State">Johnson v. State</a>, 904 So. 2d 400, 412 (Fla. 2005). <a href="Accordingly">Accordingly</a>, <a href="Bates">Bates</a> claim is procedurally barred. <a href="Evans v.">Evans v.</a></a> <a href="State">State</a>, 32 Fla. L. <a href="Weekly S 719">Weekly S 719</a> (Fla. <a href="Nov. 15">Nov. 15</a>, 2007).

This claim is also without merit. The gravamen of Bates' argument is that the United States Supreme Court's decision in Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S.Ct. 2428 (2002) creates two additional elements to the crime of first degree murder; (1) there are sufficient aggravating factors to justify a death sentence, and (2) the mitigating factors are insufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstances. In arguing that Ring extra elements of capital murder, created these Bates presupposes the statutory maximum upon conviction for first degree murder is life in prison. He also assumes that death eligibility does not arise until sentencing.

Both of Bates' assumptions underlying his argument are misplaced. Both before and after the decision in Ring issued, the Florida Supreme Court has ruled that, in Florida, the statutory maximum upon conviction for first degree murder is death. See e.g., Mills v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 2001), (ruling that death is the statutory maximum sentence upon conviction for murder); Porter v. Crosby, 840 So. 2d 981, 986

(Fla. 2003) (observing, in scrutinizing Porter's 1985 murder conviction, that "we have repeatedly held that the maximum penalty under the statute is death"). Thus, while Ring holds that any fact which increases the penalty beyond the statutory maximum must be found by the jury; once Bates was convicted of the first degree murder of Janet Renee White, Bates stood convicted of capital murder and was death eligible. Neither the sufficiency of the aggravators nor the weighing process increases the penalty beyond the statutory maximum.

Moreover, <u>Ring</u> is satisfied because Bates was convicted of kidnapping, attempted sexual battery, and armed robbery and the trial court found, in aggravation, that the murder was committed in the course of a felony. This Court has repeatedly relied on the presence of the prior violent felony aggravating circumstance in denying <u>Ring</u> claims. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 866 So. 2d 51, 68 (Fla. 2004). Bates' claim should be denied.

# C. <u>Heinous</u>, Atrocious or Cruel

In this claim, Bates alleges the trial court erroneously found the HAC aggravator to exist because the State did not bear its burden to show that Mrs. White was conscious during Bates' attack. Bates points to the medical examiner's testimony that Mrs. White would have become unconscious within a minute or two. (IB 82). Bates also alleges the trial judge improperly found

the HAC aggravator because the State failed to prove that Bates intended to torture Mrs. White. (IB 82).

This Court may deny this claim for two reasons. First, this claim is procedurally barred because Bates raised this same claim on direct appeal. This Court rejected his claim finding the evidence sufficient to support the trial court's conclusion the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Bates v. State, 750 So. 2d 618 (Fla. 1999). As this issue was raised and decided on direct appeal, Bates is procedurally barred from again raising the issue in these proceedings.

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